# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-14-2011

# Arregui v. Gallegos-Main Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38496

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. <u>Nature of the Case</u>

This case involves Plaintiff-Appellant Martha Arregui's (hereinafter "Arregui") claim for bodily injuries brought against her chiropractic physician for negligently causing Arregui to suffer a stroke when treating Arregui on June 4, 2007. This appeal is brought by Arregui from the district court's order granting summary judgment to Defendants-Respondents Rosalinda Gallegos-Main, D.C., and her clinic - Full Life Chiropractic, P.A., (collectively hereinafter, "Chiropractor Main"). The grant of summary judgment was precipitated by the district court's order striking the Affidavit of Sarah Tamai, D.C., who was Arregui's expert witness on the applicable standard of chiropractic care. At the time of her deposition. Arregui's expert had not spoken to a local chiropractor concerning the applicable standard of care. Nevertheless, by the time the expert signed her affidavit opposing summary judgment, she had familiarized herself with the local standard of care, and explained in her affidavit how she went about doing so. The district court still struck the Tamai Affidavit by invoking the "sham affidavit" doctrine, finding the expert's affidavit contradicted the expert's previous deposition testimony on the familiarization of the local standard of care.

The heart of this appeal challenges the district court's use of the "sham affidavit" doctrine in the above manner. Additionally, Arregui contends our legislature did not intend for Idaho Code §§ 6-1012 and 6-1013 of the Medical Malpractice Act to apply to claims brought against "chiropractic" physicians. The remainder of this Opening Brief shall show Arregui's appeal is just.

#### B. <u>Course of Proceedings Below</u>

Arregui filed suit on April 1, 2009, in Canyon County, Idaho. R., Vol. I, pp. 5-8. In her Complaint, Arregui alleges, *inter alia*, that Chiropractor Main owed Arregui a duty to medically treat her in a non-negligent manner, and in conformance with the applicable community standard of chiropractic care. R., Vol. I, p. 7, ¶7.

Chiropractor Main filed her *Answer to Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial* on or about April 21, 2009. R., Vol. I, pp. 9-14. In her answer, "Defendant Rosalinda Gallegos-Main, an individual, admits that she owes Plaintiff a duty regarding <u>her</u> <u>treatment</u> as a <u>licensed chiropractor</u> . . . ." R., Vol. I, p. 10, ¶7 (emphasis added). When Answering the Complaint, Chiropractor Main made no reference to the Medical Malpractice Act (Idaho Code § 6-1001 *et seq.*), and did not defend on the grounds that Arregui had to comply with the mandates contained in Idaho Code §§ 6-1012/6-1013. *See generally* R., Vol. I, pp. 9-14.

On August 16, 2010, Arregui disclosed Dr. Sarah Tamai, D.C., as an expert witness who would testify at trial on Arregui's behalf. R., Vol. I, pp. 32-33. On October 15, 2010, Arregui tendered a report authored by Dr. Tamai outlining her opinions on whether Chiropractor Main breached the standard of care when treating Arregui. R., Vol. I, pp. 142-148. A few days later, on October 19, 2010, counsel for Chiropractor Main took the deposition of Dr. Tamai. R., Vol. I, pp. 94-111. At this time, Dr. Tamai had not familiarized herself with the standard of care in Nampa-Caldwell, at the place where and at the time when the stroke had occurred.

Not long after completing the deposition of Dr. Tamai, Chiropractor Main filed her motion for summary judgment, on October 26, 2010. R., Vol. I, pp. 58-60. In this motion, Chiropractor Main argued, for the first time, that Arregui's claims are subject to Idaho Code §§ 6-1012/6-1013, and Arregui's "failure to meet those requirements is grounds for dismissal of Plaintiff's claims as a matter of law." *Id.* 

In an effort to overcome the motion for summary judgment, Arregui lodged her *Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment* (R., Vol. I, pp. 130-135), and filed the *Affidavit of Sarah Tamai*, *D.C.* (R., Vol. I, pp. 136-148). For purposes of the motion for summary judgment "only," Arregui conceded to the application of Idaho Code §§ 6-1012/6-1013. R., Vol. I, p. 131. In conjunction with this concession, Arregui's expert, Dr. Tamai, was asked to familiarize herself with the local standard of care in a manner consistent with the procedures outlined in Idaho Code §§ 6-1012/6-1013. This was done, and the method of doing so was explained by Dr. Tamai in her affidavit. R., Vol. I, p. 137. Based upon this familiarization process, Arregui contended that she met the proof elements from Idaho Code §§ 6-1012/6-1013. *Id.* 

Thereafter, on November 16, 2010, Chiropractor Main filed her *Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Sarah Tamai*, *D.C.* In the motion to strike, Chiropractor Main argued, *inter alia*, the Tamai Affidavit was untimely and violative of the "sham affidavit" doctrine.

On November 23, 2010, Chiropractor Main's motion to strike and motion for summary judgment came before the district court. After hearing oral argument, the district court granted both the motion to strike the Tamai Affidavit and the motion for summary judgment from the bench. Tr., pp. 38-43. This was followed by the entry of the district court's written *Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Strike Affidavit and Motion for Summary Judgment* filed on November 24, 2010. R., Vol. II, pp. 237-239.

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - 3**

On December 3, 2010, Arregui made her motion for reconsideration, in part, on the premise that the Tamai Affidavit does not involve the "manufacturing of evidence which the 'sham affidavit' doctrine was designed to preclude." R., Vol. II, pp. 242-245. Arregui also presented the following alternative argument:

Arregui conceded only for the purposes of summary judgment to the application of Idaho Code §§ 6-1012/6-1013. See Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 2. For purposes of her motion for reconsideration, Arregui no longer makes any such concessions. Instead, Arregui takes the alternative position that the above sections do not apply to claims brought against chiropractic physicians.

R., Vol. II, pp. 257-260.

On January 27, 2011, the district court took oral argument on the motion for reconsideration and denied the same. Interestingly, when ruling, the district court did note that she found, "no deception on the part of the chiropractor [Dr. Tamai]" (Tr. p. 62, Ll. 4-6), but concluded "the plaintiff has failed to demonstrate that the motion in this case should be granted, and I stand on the prior conclusions, page 36 through 40 of the transcript of the prior hearing." Tr., p. 64, Ll. 14-20. "Having closely reviewed that, I cannot conclude that there was error or that reconsideration should be granted here today." *Id.* 

Arregui timely filed her *Notice of Appeal* on January 28, 2011. R., Vol. II, pp. 332-335.

## C. <u>Statement of Facts</u>

Arregui alleged that on or about June 4, 2007, Chiropractor Main, in her capacity as a health care professional, treated Arregui for a condition then existing in her back and neck. R., Vol. I, p. 6. In their Answer, the "Defendants <u>admit</u> that on or about June 4,

2007 Defendant Rosalinda Gallegos-Main treated Plaintiff." R., Vol. I, p. 7 (emphasis added).

Arregui likewise alleged that on or about the same date, Chiropractor Main owed Arregui a duty to medically treat her in a competent and non-negligent manner, and in conformance with the applicable community standard of chiropractic care. R., Vol. I, p. 7. In their Answer to the Complaint, "Defendant Rosalinda Gallegos-Main, an individual, <u>admits that she owes Plaintiff a duty</u> regarding <u>her treatment</u> as a <u>licensed</u> <u>chiropractor</u>...." R., Vol. I, p. 10 (emphasis added).

Arregui further alleged that on or about the same date, Chiropractor Main failed to meet the applicable community standard of chiropractic care, was negligent and/or reckless in the acts or omissions, and breached the duty owed to Arregui when she caused Arregui to suffer a stroke during a manipulation of the neck. R., Vol. I, p. 7.

Although Chiropractor Main denied these latter allegations in the Answer to the Complaint, Arregui offered affirmative proof in the form of direct, expert testimony that Chiropractor Main breached the applicable standard of health care practice in the locale where the chiropractic care was provided – the Nampa/Caldwell community. R., Vol. I, pp. 138-139.

#### IV. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL</u>

- A. Did the District Court err when applying the "Sham Affidavit" Doctrine and by Striking the Affidavit of Sarah Tamai, D.C., Plaintiff's Expert Witness on the Applicable Standard of Chiropractic Care?
- B. Did the District Court err In Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration?

## V. ARGUMENT

#### A. <u>Standard of Review for Summary Judgment/Reconsideration.</u>

"When reviewing a motion for summary judgment, this Court uses the same standard employed by the trial court when deciding such a motion." *Nation v. State, Dept. of Correction,* 144 Idaho 177, 184, 158 P.3d 953, 960 (2007); see also Sorenson v. *St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc.,* 141 Idaho 754, 758, 118 P.3d 86, 90 (2005). Thus, the following standard of review applies to this appeal:

The burden of proving the absence of a material fact rests at all times upon the moving party. *McCoy*, 120 Idaho at 769, 820 P.2d at 364; *Petricevich*, 92 Idaho at 868, 452 P.2d at 365. This burden is onerous because even "circumstantial" evidence can create a genuine issue of material fact. *McCoy*, 120 Idaho at 769, 820 P.2d at 364; *Petricevich*, 92 Idaho at 868, 452 P.2d at 365.

Harris v. State, Dept. of Health & Welfare, 123 Idaho 295, 298, 847 P.2d 1156, 1159

(1992).

"[A]ll doubts are to be resolved against the moving party." *Ashley v. Hubbard*, 100 Idaho 67, 69, 593 P.2d 402, 404 (1979). The motion must be denied "if the evidence is such that conflicting inferences can be drawn therefrom and if reasonable [people] might reach different conclusions." *Id.* 

Doe v. Durtschi, 110 Idaho 466, 470, 716 P.2d 1238, 1242 (1986).

...[T]he Court must liberally construe facts in the existing record in favor of the nonmoving party, and draw all reasonable inferences from the record in favor of the nonmoving party. *Thompson*, 126 Idaho at 529, 887 P.2d at 1036; *Bonz v. Sudweeks*, 119 Idaho 539, 541, 808 P.2d 876, 878 (1991). Summary judgment is appropriate if "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *McCoy v. Lyons*, 120 Idaho 765, 769, 820 P.2d

360, 364 (1991). If there are conflicting inferences contained in the record or reasonable minds might reach different conclusions, summary judgment must be denied. *Bonz*, 119 Idaho at 541, 808 P.2d at 878.

State v. Rubbermaid, Inc., 129 Idaho 353, 356, 924 P.2d 615, 618 (1996).

The decision to grant or deny a request for reconsideration generally rests in the sound discretion of the trial court. *Campbell v. Reagan*, 144 Idaho 254, 258, 159 P.3d 891, 895 (2007); *Carnell v. Barker Mgmt. Inc.*, 137 Idaho 322, 329 48 P.3d 651, 658 (2002). When considering a motion to reconsider under I.R.C.P. 11(a)(2), the district court should take into account any new facts or information presented by the moving party bearing on the correctness of the district court's order. *Coeur d' Alene Mining Co. v. First Nat'l Bank of N. Idaho*, 118 Idaho 812, 823, 800 P.2d 1026, 1037 (1990).

## B. <u>The District Court Erred when applying the "Sham Affidavit"</u> <u>Doctrine, and by Striking the Affidavit of Sarah Tamai, D.C.,</u> <u>Plaintiff's Expert Witness on the applicable Standard of Chiropractic</u> <u>Care.</u>

The Tamai Affidavit simply does not involve the manufacturing of evidence which the "sham affidavit" doctrine was designed to exclude. As stated in *Boise Tower Associates, LLC v. Washington Capital Joint Master Trust,* 2007 WL 1035158, 12-13 (D. Idaho), a case heavily relied upon by the district court below, the doctrine "prevents the use of manufactured testimony" as a means of creating an issue of fact to overcome summary judgment.

The *Boise Tower* case involved a dispute between a lender and a borrower over a claim for breach of contract. There, the lender sought to strike the affidavit of the borrower's principal on the basis that it was "replete with sham testimony, statements based upon a lack of personal knowledge, and hearsay." *Id.* at 12. In addressing the

motion to strike, the court referenced the "sham affidavit" doctrine and set forth its general rule:

[Courts] have held with virtual unanimity that a party cannot create a genuine issue of fact sufficient to survive summary judgment simply by contradicting his or her own previous sworn statement (by, say, filing a later affidavit that flatly contradicts that party's earlier sworn deposition) without explaining the contradiction or attempting to resolve the disparity.

*Id. See also Matter of Estate of Keeven*, 126 Idaho 290, 298, 882 P.2d 457, 465 (Ct. App. 1994) ("[A] sham affidavit which directly contradicts prior testimony may be disregarded on a summary judgment motion ... .").

After citing to the above rule, the court in *Boise Tower* blandly indicated, "To the extent that various portions of the affidavit contained conclusions of law, were based on speculation or contradicted Peterson's testimony in his affidavit, they were not considered by the Court." *Id.* at 13. Without delineating the nature of the contradictions in the testimony, the court ultimately granted the motion to strike in part and denied it in part. *Id.* For our purposes here, it may have been helpful if the court in *Boise Tower* had explicitly cited to the different versions of the contradictory testimony. Nonetheless, it is clear the evidence in question did not involve the testimony of an expert witness. Rather, it involved the principal of one of the parties – the borrower. In our case here, we are dealing with an expert witness who does not have any personal knowledge of the facts of the case. An expert, of course, typically testifies on facts made known to the expert. As more information is made know to the expert, her opinions are subject to modification. Such is the case here.

At the time of her October 19, 2010, deposition, Dr. Tamai did not know whether the standard of care she cited in her report was the same standard of care applicable to the Nampa-Caldwell community at the time Arregui suffered the stroke. At that point in time, Dr. Tamai admittedly had not spoken to a chiropractic physician in the Nampa-Caldwell area to discuss the standard of care in such locality. R., Vol. II, pp. 177-178. After Defendants filed for summary judgment and argued for the first time how Arregui's claim was subject to the provisions of Idaho Code §§ 6-1012/6-1013, Dr. Tamai did, however, familiarize herself with the local standard of care. She did so by following the statutory prescripts in Idaho Code § 6-1013:

> [P]rovided, this section shall not be construed to prohibit or otherwise preclude <u>a competent expert witness who resides</u> <u>elsewhere from adequately familiarizing [her]self with the</u> <u>standards</u> and practices of (a particular) such area and thereafter giving opinion testimony in such a trial. (Emphasis added).

In line with Idaho Code § 6-1013, Dr. Tamai explained the familiarization process in paragraph three (3) of her subsequent affidavit dated November 12, 2010:

I have educated myself regarding the local standards of care prevailing in the Nampa-Caldwell area of Idaho, as they existed in June 2007. In addition to my education and experience, I have spoken with a local chiropractor, who maintained a chiropractic practice, in Caldwell, Idaho, in June 2007, the time period relevant to this litigation, as it was the time period, when Defendant chiropractically treated Plaintiff, Martha Arregui. It is my understanding that this chiropractor was appropriately licensed in Idaho as a chiropractor and maintained an active practice of chiropractic medicine during the relevant period. This chiropractor indicated to me that he was familiar with the local standards of care for performing chiropractic procedures in the Nampa and Caldwell communities by licensed chiropractors at the time that the chiropractic care at issue in this case was rendered to the patient. This physician further confirmed to me that the local standards

of care at that time were, in all respects, consistent with and, in fact, identical to the standards of care upon which my opinions in this case have been based, namely, the standards of care in Oceanside, California in June 2007. (Emphasis added).

R., Vol. I, p. 137. There can be nothing wrong with what Arregui and her expert did in the context of this case.

As stated above, this case does not actually draw into play the "sham affidavit" doctrine. Here, the evidence in Dr. Tamai's subsequent affidavit was not manufactured or contrived in any manner, shape, or form. Dr. Tamai properly gained familiarity with the local standard of care upon further inquiry into the case, including consulting with other professionals in her field. Unmistakably, Dr. Tamai did not testify as an eye witness with personal knowledge about a given fact, only to later change her testimony thereafter. In fact, the same standard of care has been used by Dr. Tamai throughout her involvement in this case. The only aspect of her opinion that is different is that Dr. Tamai confirmed through further examination that the standard of care from which she rendered her opinions was the same standard of care which applied in Nampa-Caldwell on the date in question.

As noted in *Kennedy v. Allied Mutual Insurance Co.*, 952 F2d 262, 267 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991), the "general rule" from the doctrine only applies if the court "make[s] a factual determination that the contradiction was actually a 'sham." Here, as referenced above, the district court found "no deception on the part of the chiropractor [Dr. Tamai]". Tr. p. 62, Ll. 4-6. Thus, the district court erroneously applied the "sham affidavit" doctrine to a case that does not involve a sham. This was clear error on the part of the district court.

Furthermore, counsel for Defendants anticipated Dr. Tamai may conduct further analysis of the issues in the case by requesting during the deposition to be updated in the event she did:

> MR. GREENER: Counsel, if there is any additional work done, we would like to be advised of it, if there are any modifications. We would like to take the deposition or get updated on the deposition of the witness on that.

#### R., Vol. II, pp. 206-207.

It is not as though Chiropractor Main ever cited to legal authority suggesting that a party cannot familiarize an expert with the local standard of care after a motion for summary judgment has been filed. Especially, like here, where the issue was raised for the first time by Chiropractor Main in her motion for summary judgment. Again, this case does not involve the manufacturing of evidence which the "sham affidavit" was designed to exclude. It is not as if we have an eye witness first testifying the light was red and later testifying the light was green. Furthermore, consistent with *Boise Tower*, *supra*, the difference in testimony has been adequately explained by Dr. Tamai. As she states in her affidavit, the difference derives from her effort to fully familiarize herself with the local standard of care by consulting with a local professional in her same field who was practicing in the relevant community. Far from being a sham, Dr. Tamai was simply trying to meet the statutory requirements of Idaho Code § 6-1013.

Importantly, the application of the "sham affidavit" doctrine has evolved over time. In fact, a recent Ninth Circuit opinion discusses the need for restraint when applying the "sham affidavit" rule. *See Van Asdale v. International Game Technology*, 577 F.3d 989 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009). In *Van Asdale*, the court fluently described the concern of an over-reaching application of the "sham affidavit" doctrine:

The Supreme Court has explained that "[s]ummary judgment procedure is properly regarded not as a disfavored procedural shortcut, but rather as an integral part of the Federal Rules as a whole, which are designed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action." Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 327, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986). Some form of the sham affidavit rule is necessary to maintain this principle. This is because, as we have explained, "if a party who has been examined at length on deposition could raise an issue of fact simply by submitting an affidavit contradicting his own prior testimony, this would greatly diminish the utility of summary judgment as a procedure for screening out sham issues of fact." Kennedy, 952 F.2d at 266 (quoting Foster v. Arcata Assocs., 772 F.2d 1453, 1462 (9th Cir. 1985)).

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