# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-11-2011

# Arregui v. Gallegos-Main Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38496

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

It is well settled that experts testifying as to the standard of practice in medical malpractice actions must show that they have familiarized themselves with the standard for a particular profession for the relevant community and time. *Perry v. Magic Valley Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 134 Idaho 46, 51, 995 P.2d 816, 821 (2000) (citing *Kolln v. St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 130 Idaho 323, 331, 940 P.2d 1142, 1150 (1997)). They must explain how they became familiar with the local standard of practice for the particular health care professional. *See Dulaney v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 137 Idaho 160, 168, 45 P.3d 816, 824 (2002) ("The witness must demonstrate a knowledge acquired from experience or study of the standards of the specialty of the defendant physician sufficient to enable him to give an expert opinion as to the conformity of the defendant's conduct to those particular standards....").

In this case, the only foundation to Dr. Tamai's opinions regarding the local community standard of care are found in paragraph three of the Tamai's affidavit, which in summary states that Dr. Tamai "educated [her]self" by speaking with an unidentified "local chiropractor" who was licensed and had an "active practice of chiropractic medicine [in Caldwell, Idaho] during the relevant period," who indicated "that he was familiar with the local standards of care for performing chiropractic procedures in Nampa and Caldwell communities," and who confirmed that the "local standards of care...were...identical to the standards of care upon which [her] opinions in this case have been based..." (R. p. 000137 at ¶ 3).

The foundational deficiencies in this paragraph are obvious. First, the consulting local chiropractor is not even named and the affidavit does not mention the consulting chiropractor's career work experience, education, or work experience in the Nampa/Caldwell area. *See Clarke v. Prenger*, 114 Idaho 766, 769, 760 P.2d 1182, 1185 (1988) ("The witness must demonstrate a knowledge acquired from experience or study of the standards of the specialty of the defendant physician sufficient to enable him to give an expert opinion as to the conformity of the defendant's conduct to those particular standards, and not to the standards of the witness's particular specialty if it differs from that of the defendant. It is the scope of the witness's knowledge and not the artificial classification by title that should govern the threshold question of admissibility."). Merely having the license and title of chiropractor and having an active practice at the relevant time does not give any indication of the sufficiency of the consulting chiropractor's "scope of knowledge."

The only information provided about the consulting chiropractor is that he had a practice in June of 2007, that he was licensed in Idaho at that time, and that he claimed to know the community standard of care for the Nampa and Caldwell communities. Claiming to know the community standard without setting forth facts to explain the basis for that claim is insufficient, as stated repeatedly in the case law. *See Hoover v. Hunter*, 150 Idaho 658, 662-63, 249 P.3d 851, 855-56 (2011) ("[B]eyond conclusory statements that the standard of care was identical, there was no showing that [the alleged expert] had familiarized himself with the local standard of care in Ada County at the time of the procedure."); *Dulaney*, 137 Idaho at 166-67, 45 P.3d at 822-23 *Dulaney v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 137 Idaho 160, 168, 45 P.3d 816, 824 (2002) ("The witness must also state how he or she became familiar with that standard of care.").

In addition, the affidavit only states that the consulted chiropractor knew the local standard of care, without any reference to the relevant standard of care issues in this case. The affidavit is devoid of any explanation of how the consulting chiropractor knows the local standard of care for treating torticollis and whether a hypothetical manual adjustment would be acceptable, if not recommended. *See Suhadolnik v. Pressman*, 254 P.3d 11 (Idaho 2011) ("The district court's narrowing of the standard of care to Flomax particularly is not an abuse of discretion because this Court generally identifies the standard of care in terms of the major facts appurtenant to the case."); *Hoover*, 150 Idaho 663, 249 P.3d at 856 (Idaho 2011) ("Beyond that, Mr. Hoover makes no statement that he was familiar with the local standard in Ada County, alleging merely that basic first aid was mandated. These statements, without more, do not show that Mr. Hoover was versed in the standard of care for an emergency arising within an EGD procedure.").

The affidavit in this case is much more deficient than other cases where the appellate court has upheld the decision to grant summary judgment. In *Dulaney*, the affidavit stated that the out of town expert was relying upon an anonymous professor (the Court noted the anonymity but did not rule based on that issue), and the professor said that he trained orthopedic physicians that presently practice in Boise, that he'd maintained personal and professional relationships with the physicians in Boise, and that he had taught and lectured in Boise. Despite these details, the *Dulaney* Court found the affidavit inadmissible and granted summary judgment because the affidavit did not relate all of the consulting professor's experience to the specific time period in question. In this case, the affidavit contains even less facts and it never relates "any" of the consulting chiropractor's experience or training regarding the relevant standard of care issues.

In *Suhadolnik*, the Court was provided with the consulting local physician's deposition that contained extensive details of his experience, training, and opinions. With that detail, the Court was able to determine that the consulting physician did not have sufficient knowledge on the central standard of care issue in the case and granted summary judgment. Here, the Appellant has provided no facts or details so the Court has no ability to determine if the conclusory claims regarding the standard of care are actually flawed. This approach is contrary to the case law and must be rejected. In fact, the record establishes that all of Dr. Tamai's conclusory remarks in the affidavit are flawed, which is proven by her deposition testimony. Dr. Tamai is required to provide much greater detail about the consulting chiropractor's experience and training, specifically the experience and training that allowed the chiropractor to provide information detailing the standard of care for treatment by a chiropractic physician in Caldwell, Idaho on June 4, 2007.

The Appellant suggests that the District Court based its decision solely upon the sham affidavit doctrine. We disagree based upon the District Court's statements in the record. (000320-323.) Further, Appellant's position ignores the District Court's decision as to the untimeliness of the affidavit. The argument cannot carry the day for the Appellant as there is a clear legal basis for striking the Tamai Affidavit and granting summary judgment based upon the deficiencies in the affidavit under I.C. § 6-1013(c)(1). This Court in, *Martel v. Bulotti*, 138 Idaho 451, 454-55, 65 P.3d 192, 195-96 (2003) held that an appellate court may affirm on alternate grounds, applying the law to undisputed facts. The Appellant cannot escape the legal authority that the Tamai Affidavit does not meet the foundational requirements of I.C. § 6-1013(c)(1) to allow Dr. Tamai to testify as to the local standard of care.

Pursuant to I.C. 6-1013(c)(1), an expert can only testify as to the local standard of care if the expert establishes the requisite foundation to show how the knowledge was obtained and the clear basis for the opinion. The District Court correctly concluded that the deposition testimony of Dr. Tamai did not contain the sufficient foundational knowledge of the local standard of care for her to present expert opinion testimony. The Tamai Affidavit, even if considered, is deficient on its face in terms of setting forth this required foundation as well. Accordingly, the District Court's ruling on summary judgment should be affirmed.

IV. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Denying the Motion to Reconsider Because No New Facts or Errors of Law Were Presented. Chiropractor Malpractice Cases Require Proof of the Local Community Standard of Care Testimony, Pursuant to I.C. §§ 6-1012, 6-1013 and Idaho Case Law.

The District Court properly exercised its discretion in denying Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. Appellant's reconsideration motion regurgitated the same arguments based upon the sham affidavit addressed above. In addition, Appellant improperly raised a new legal theory, claiming that I.C. § 6-1012 does not apply to chiropractor physicians. *See Carroll v. Nakatani*, 342 F.3d 934, 945 (9th Cir. 2003) (motion to reconsider should not be used "to raise arguments... for the first time when they could reasonably have been raised earlier in the litigation"); *see also Comm'r of Revenue v. Comcast Corp.*, 901 N.E.2d 1185, 1200-01 (Mass. 2009) (citing numerous cases holding that motion for reconsideration should not serve as occasion to tender new legal theories). The District Court properly exercised its discretion in refusing to entertain a new legal theory that should have been raised in the initial opposition to summary judgment. Even if this tardy

legal argument had been considered, the District Court should have properly rejected it for the following reasons.

Appellant argues that I.C. § 6-1012 is inapplicable to chiropractors because chiropractic physicians are not specifically mentioned in the language of the statute. Appellant ignores the language of the statute that states "any physician or surgeon or other provider of health care." Appellant's argument, boiled down to the basics, is that (1) chiropractors are physicians but not medical physicians, (2) the reference to "any physician" in § 6-1012 is only to medical physicians, and (3) the "other provider of health care" cannot refer to any other type of licensed physician. Appellant's argument is flawed in all respects because a chiropractor is both a physician and a provider of health care.

The Idaho Courts have not ruled specifically on the applicability of I.C. § 6-1012 to chiropractors. *See Syth v. Parke*, 121 Idaho 156, 823 P.2d 760 (1991) (underlying lawsuit was malpractice action against chiropractor but no discussion of expert testimony as to the local standard of care). The plain language of the statute makes § 6-1012 applicable to "any physician." Appellant concedes that a chiropractor is defined as a physician, pursuant to the Chiropractic Practice Act. *See* I.C. § 54-703 ("'Physician' means any person who holds a license to practice chiropractic"). So, as an initial matter, the statute can be interpreted to include a chiropractor physician within the term "any physician." The term "any" is inclusive and general and Appellant has no argument for why "any physician" should not include a chiropractic physician. Appellant provides only a conclusory statement, "the above statutory reference to 'any physician' applies to those physicians meeting the

definition stated in the Medical Practice Act." A chiropractic physician falls within the term "any physician", so § 6-1012 is applicable to chiropractic physicians.

Even if § 6-1012's reference to "any physician" was intended only for medical physicians as defined by I.C. § 54-1801, et seq., Section 6-1012 has the catch all provision "other provider of health care," which clearly is a broad term that would include a licensed chiropractic physician. The common dictionary definition for chiropractic would seem to end the argument: "A system of healing." *See* Encarta® World English Dictionary. In addition, the statutory definition of chiropractic care, as found in Title 7 of the Chapter 54 (the "Chiropractic Practice Act"), provides:

- (1) The "practice of chiropractic" means:
  - (a) To investigate, examine, and diagnose for any human disease, ailment, injury, infirmity, deformity, or other condition; and
  - (b) To apply principles or techniques of chiropractic practice as set forth in section 54-704, Idaho Code, in the prevention or treatment of any of the conditions listed in subsection (a) of this section; or
  - (c) To offer, undertake, attempt to do or hold oneself out as able to do any of the acts prescribed in subsections (a) and (b) of this section.

(emphasis added). Finally, the Idaho Supreme Court noted in a recent decision that a chiropractor is a "health care professional" who provides a type of service similar to a medical doctor or a physical therapist and therefore should be treated equally with those health care professionals. *See Idaho Ass'n of Chiropractic Physicians, Inc. v. Alcorn*, 132 Idaho 486, 487-89, 975 P.2d 219, 220-22 (1999). There is no relevant distinction between chiropractors and the other listed health care providers and counsel is not aware of any case from any other jurisdiction holding that chiropractor experts should not have to know the local standard of care.

The Idaho Supreme Court confirmed that § 6-1012 is intended to have a wide application. In *Jones v. Crawforth*, 147 Idaho 11. 205 P.3d 660 (2009), the Court provides a simple test for determining whether various professions would fit within the definition of a "provider of health care" pursuant to § 6-1012. In *Crawforth*, the Court found that a cell saver technician fit within the health care providers that are protected by I.C. § 6-1012. The Court found it irrelevant that the cell saver technician did not fit within the specific statutory definitions of the various health care professions listed in I.C. § 6-1012. Instead, the Court noted:

The plain language of I.C. § 6-1012 makes the statute applicable to actions 'brought against any physician and surgeon or other provider of health care, including, without limitation, any dentist, . . . . on account of the provision of or failure to provide health care or on account of any matter incidental or related thereto....'(Emphasis added). Respondents argue that the plain language of the statute indicates an intent to be extremely broad in scope through its application to any case brought against any "other provider of healthcare," and the inclusion of the words "without limitation" to the list of other providers. We find this argument to be a valid interpretation of the plain meaning of I.C. § 6-1012. Therefore, Kurtz, as a cell saver technician with an important role in the surgery of Ms. Jones, was a health care provider within the scope of I.C. § 6-1012.

Crawforth, 147 Idaho at 15, 205 P.3d. at 664 (citations omitted). The Court went on to explain:

Furthermore, this Court in *Hough v. Fry*, 131 Idaho 230, 233, 953 P.2d 980, 983 (1998), stated that "by its plain and unambiguous language, [I.C. § 6-1012] applies when the damages complained of result from providing or failing to provide health care. Thus, to determine if I.C. § 6-1012 applies, courts need only look to see if the injury occurred *on account of the provision of or failure to provide health care.*" (Emphasis added). While there was not a question in *Hough* as to whether someone was a health care provider within the meaning of the statute, the test provided in that case is useful in analyzing B & B's arguments. Ms. Jones's injury did occur on account of the provision of or failure to provide health care by Kurtz. Kurtz's role in the operating room was to gather, clean, and deliver the blood of the patient lost during the surgery into the reinfusion bag, and she was specifically trained as to the dangers of placing a pressure device on a reinfusion bag and of her responsibility to

warn the doctor of the dangers. Therefore, Kurtz was providing, or failing to provide, health care at the time of Ms. Jones's death.

*Id.* at 16.

The same analysis applies in this case and the same result should be reached as in *Crawforth*. Although a chiropractor is not specifically listed in I.C. § 6-1012, that statute is intended "to be extremely broad in scope" and, by its plain language, applies to much more than just the specific listed health care professions. *Id.* As I.C. § 6-1012 applies to chiropractic care, the District Court properly exercised its discretion in rejecting that argument and denying the motion to reconsider.

# V. The Tamai Affidavit Was Untimely Filed.

The District Court also correctly ruled that the untimeliness of the Tamai Affidavit was an independent reason for its being stricken. Although as noted there are multiple other legal reasons for the granting of the motion to strike, it is clear under the law that untimeliness standing alone is a separate legal basis for the District Court to make the discretionary decision to strike the Tamai Affidavit. The District Court was acting within its discretion in rejecting the affidavit on the basis that the affidavit was untimely filed and there was no reasonable explanation for missing the time deadlines.

#### ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

I. Respondents Are Entitled To Attorney Fees On Appeal Pursuant To Idaho Code & 12-121 And I.A.R. 41(a).

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